### **RECEIVED**

11-14-2014

### CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

# IN SUPREME COURT Case No. 2013AP001737-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

MICHAEL R. LUEDTKE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, District II, Affirming the Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Motion, Entered in the Circuit Court, Winnebago County, the Honorable Karen L. Seifert, Presiding

## BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

DONALD T. LANG Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 01003242

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. As construed by the courts below, does the absence of a *scienter* element in Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am), which prohibits operation of a vehicle with a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in the blood, violate due process by authorizing the conviction of an otherwise unimpaired motorist who unknowingly ingests a restricted substance?

The trial court denied Luedtke's postconviction motion challenging the constitutionality of Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am), and/or the absence of a *scienter* element in the instructions defining this offense. Rejecting Luedtke's substantive arguments, the court found it unnecessary to address his alternative ineffective counsel claim.

The Court of Appeals affirmed, concluding the absence of a *scienter* element did not violate due process. The court did not address whether this omission can be reconciled with *State v. Griffin*, 220 Wis. 2d 371, 584 N.W.2d 127 (Ct. App. 1998), which held that a blood or urine test alone is insufficient to prove possession of cocaine because cocaine can be unwittingly ingested.

2. Consistent with *State v. Dubose*, 2005 WI 126, 285 Wis. 2d 143, 699 N.W.2d 582, did the State's *post-charging* destruction of Luedtke's blood sample prior to Luedtke receiving actual notice of the restricted substance charge violate due process under the Wisconsin Constitution?

Concluding there was no bad faith, the trial court denied Luedtke's pretrial and postconviction motions challenging the destruction of his blood sample. The court found it was unnecessary to address Luedtke's companion ineffective counsel claim.

The Court of Appeals affirmed, concluding it was bound by prior rulings adopting *Arizona v. Youngblood*, 488 U.S. 51 (1988). The court did not mention Luedtke's state constitutional claim based on *Dubose*.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Both oral argument and publication are requested.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the afternoon of April 27, 2009, Michael Luedtke was involved in a traffic accident in Oshkosh, wherein the Ford Escort he was driving rear ended a vehicle that stopped to make a left turn. (2:2). Nearly eight months later, on December 18, 2009, a complaint was filed charging Luedtke with felony counts of operating under the influence of an intoxicant contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a), and operating with a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his blood contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am). (2).

Luedtke first appeared in court on May 24, 2010. (85). He was bound over for trial following a preliminary hearing conducted over four dates. (86; 87; 88; 89:4). The information renewed the two charges in the complaint. (13; 89:4).

On December 28, 2010, the defense filed a "motion to suppress" challenging the State Hygiene Lab's destruction of Luedtke's blood sample before he received notice of the charges. (23). On January 12, 2011, Judge Karen L. Seifert declined to suppress the drug test results. (94:17-20).

On April 17, 2012, a jury found Luedtke guilty of operating with a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance, cocaine or a metabolite of cocaine, in his blood. The jury found Luedtke not guilty of operating under the influence. (102:229-230). The court later imposed consecutive probation and jail time. (103:19).

On May 31, 2013, Luedtke filed a postconviction motion requesting dismissal or a new trial. (78). First, Luedtke alleged the restricted substance charge and/or the jury instructions defining this offense violated due process by imposing liability without regard to whether Luedtke knew he had ingested a restricted substance. Second, Luedtke alleged the State's post-charging destruction of his blood sample before he received notice of the restricted substance charge violated due process. Luedtke further argued that even if the destruction of his blood sample did not require dismissal, jurors should have been instructed, as in Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51 (1988), that they could infer the destroyed evidence would have been favorable to the defense. Luedtke alternatively alleged that if these claims were waived Luedtke was either denied effective counsel or should be granted a new trial in the interests of justice. (Id).

Following briefs and argument, the trial court denied Luedtke's motion. (79; 80; 105:17-20). Rejecting Luedtke's substantive claims, the court concluded a *Machner*<sup>1</sup> hearing was unnecessary to address the alternative ineffective counsel arguments. (79; 80; 105:3-4, 6-7). The Court of Appeals affirmed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Michael Luedtke was convicted of operating with a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance, cocaine or a metabolite of cocaine, in his blood. Shortly after 2:00 p.m. on April 27, 2009, the Ford Escort Luedtke was driving rear ended another vehicle. (102:58-60). The fifty-five year old Luedtke, who was doing work for the owner of the Escort, explained he looked down to pick up his ringing cell phone and when he looked back up the vehicle in front of him had stopped and was turning left. (102:164-168, 181, 190). Luedtke explained:

And I went to hit the brakes on the car and I noticed that they were very spongy. I had not driven the car for any length of time anywheres anyway but a parking lot so I didn't know. And I went to swerve out into the opposite lane, traffic coming towards me, a pickup truck, I thought, nope, I don't want to hit nobody head-on especially a pickup truck and I swerved back in and still was applying the brakes and they were just too spongy to stop. When I hit, that was that. That's what happened.

(102:164-165, 166-168).

Officer Joseph Framke testified Luedtke "identified himself as the operator of the Escort," and reported:

"[H]e reached over to the passenger side to pick up a phone and that when he looked back up the road, the vehicle in front of him had stopped and that there was no way for him to stop.

(102:61-62, 84, 181).

Luedtke testified his body slammed into the steering wheel and his head struck the visor. (102:166). He exited the

Escort to check on the other driver, but someone was already there. When this person asked if he was all right, Luedtke recalled: "I was holding my chest and I knew I wasn't really all right but I didn't have insurance and I didn't want to say get me an ambulance." (102:166).

Luedtke indicated that when he spoke with Officer Framke he "was very panicked" and found it "hard to concentrate." (102:170). He declined medical attention because he didn't want to pay \$500 for an ambulance. (102:171). He had trouble making clear decisions because he was hurt, was worried about the other driver, was concerned the Escort was destroyed, and knew his tools were in the Escort's trunk and was unsure how he would get them back. (102:170, 178-179).

During their initial contact Framke did not notice anything significant about Luedtke's speech or ability to walk. (102:61, 73, 74). Framke allowed Luedtke to retrieve items from the damaged Escort. (102:62, 73). Framke became suspicious when a nearby resident reported seeing Luedtke remove something from the Escort and put it in the sewer. (102:63-64, 65, 73-74). Officers found syringes and a spoon in a nearby sewer. (102:65, 85).

Luedtke testified that when he returned to the Escort he observed syringes on the floorboard pushed out of a bag. Luedtke explained: "I was panicked. I just thought this is illegal. I didn't know they were in there. I thought they were illegal." (102:168-169). He was unaware these needles were in the car. (102:181, 182). Using his work t-shirt, Luedtke wrapped his "hands around them, picked them up, disposed of them into the sewer drain." (102:169). He concealed the needles because he "thought they were illegal" to possessand "didn't want no trouble." (102:177-179, 182-183, 188). He

did not look for more needles in the car, adding: "I knew I didn't do anything." (102:169, 178).

With Luedtke's permission, Framke searched Luedtke's person and found no "contraband." (102:65). Luedtke also agreed to a search of the Escort. (Id.). The vehicle search revealed items Framke believed could qualify as drug paraphernalia; a syringe "underneath the passenger side on the passenger side front floorboard," two syringes and a prescription bottle with no label with some powder residue "underneath the driver's side on the driver's side floorboard area," and a metal spoon in the door pocket on the driver's side. (102:65-66, 74).

Luedtke acknowledged taking several prescription medications including morphine for his back. (102:64). According to Framke, Luedtke said he injected the morphine but declined to say anything further. (102:66, 173). He also said he occasionally used pot. (102:65).

Luedtke testified he broke his back in a 1984 semi accident wherein three vertebrae in his neck were crushed. (102:163). He took methadone and diazepam in pill form. The methadone was for pain. He only took diazepam at night because it made him feel lethargic. (102:185).

Luedtke testified that on the day of the accident he had only taken a prescribed antidepressant. (102:163-164, 172). He took other medications the previous day including diazepam at 10:00 p.m. before going to bed. (102:164, 172). He last took methadone more than sixteen hours before the accident. (102:164, 173). Luedtke denied taking any medications by injection reaffirming he was unaware the syringes were in the Escort. (102:187).

Framke felt Luedtke inadequately performed field sobriety tests. (102:66-69). Framke could not recall whether he asked Luedtke if he had any physical problems that would interfere with his ability to perform these tests. (102:76, 81). Framke recalled Luedtke saying he hit the steering wheel and his chest hurt, but after being checked out by fire department personnel Luedtke declined treatment. (102: 76-77, 79).

Luedtke testified he "can't really stand on one foot" because his knees and back are "messed up." (102:171). With regard to the heel to toe test, Luedtke tried to tell the officer "I don't walk that way and I never have." Turning the legs like that "hurts my knees even worse." (102:171-172, 174-175, 185-186). Notwithstanding the "throbbing" in his chest, Luedtke performed the tests the best he could, believing he "was going to be vindicated." (102:175).

Based on Luedtke's performance on the field sobriety tests and the presence of drug paraphernalia, Framke concluded there was cause to believe Luedtke was under the influence of some substance. (102:69, 71-72, 81). Luedtke agreed to a blood test believing he had "done nothing wrong." (102:172, 173-174). He was absolutely certain he did not use cocaine on the day of the accident or at any time near that day. (102:177, 183-184).

At the time of his arrest Luedtke did not think there was anything in his blood. He expected to pay a ticket for inattentive driving and the matter would be over. (102:79). His blood was drawn at 3:28 p.m. (102:87, 90). Luedtke was then assessed by Brett Robertson, an officer trained in drug recognition. (102:93, 96, 177). Detecting no odor of alcohol and observing no sign of HGN, Robertson did not believe Luedtke was under the influence of alcohol or some other

depressant. (102:96-97, 99-100). Luedtke was cooperative, coherent and able to follow directions. (102:97, 103).

With regard to the physical tests, Robertson reported Luedtke swayed while performing a balancing test yet accurately estimated the passage of thirty seconds. (102:101-103). Luedtke's feet pointed out on the heel to toe test, he swayed, raised his arms and put his foot down on the one leg stand, and was unable to touch the tip of his nose with his finger tip. (102:105-106, 107, 109, 125). Robertson didn't inquire whether Luedtke had any medical condition that might impede his performance of these tests. (102:125). On Luedtke's right hand near the thumb Robertson observed what appeared to be scabbed over puncture marks that were consistent with a needle injection. (102:110). Luedtke testified he was probably skinned up from work. (102:189).

Robertson believed Luedtke "was under the influence of a central nervous system narcotic analgesic" such as morphine or painkillers. (102:114, 118). The cocaine and cocaine metabolite reportedly detected in Luedtke's blood were stimulants that would tend to counteract the narcotic medications. (102:116-118, 119-120). Luedtke's medications were within the therapeutic or normal range. (102:123). Chemist Thomas Neuser later noted Luedtke's methadone level of 24 nanograms was "quite small" as the detection limit is about 20 nanograms. (102:138-139).<sup>2</sup>

According to Neuser, Luedtke's blood sample revealed the presence of cocaine at less than 20 nanograms per milliliter, and the cocaine metabolite benzoylecgonine at 330 nanograms per milliliter. (102:133, 136, 151). Cocaine and the metabolite benzoylecgonine are restricted controlled substances. (102:134). The detection limit for cocaine is

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  A nanogram is one billionth of a gram (1/1,000,000,000).

10 nanograms, below which it is reported as not detected. The quantification limit is 20 nanograms, so results below 20 nanograms are reported as less than 20. (102:151).

The Hygiene Lab saves blood samples a minimum of six months after the date of receipt. (102:145). The lab does not notify the submitting party before discarding a sample, but expects the submitting agency will contact them if they want it saved longer. (102:145-146).

Luedtke assumed his blood test "came back good." He was first notified of the restricted substance charge nearly eleven months later on March 22, 2010. (102:179). He first saw the lab report at his initial appearance on May 25<sup>th</sup>. (102:179, 183). Luedtke asked his attorney to have the sample tested again because "I don't ever do cocaine." (102:179-180, 183-184). He later learned the sample could not be retested because it had been destroyed on February 4, 2010. (102:180-181).

#### ARGUMENT

This appeal presents related substantive and procedural problems. First, as a substantive matter, can an otherwise unimpaired motorist be punished for operating a vehicle with a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his blood even when the substance was unknowingly ingested? In accordance with the ruling in *State v. Griffin*, 220 Wis. 2d 371, 584 N.W.2d 127 (Ct. App. 1998), and the longstanding recognition that a *scienter* requirement is the rule rather than the exception in criminal prosecutions, Luedtke submits Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am), must be construed to include a knowledge element. Indeed, due process forbids imposing criminal punishment based on facts the defendant did not, and could not know.

Second, as a procedural matter, since a prosecution for operating with a restricted substance in the blood substantially rests on the results of a blood test, does the Wisconsin Constitution restrict the State's *post-charging* authority to unilaterally destroy a suspect's blood sample without first giving notice to the accused or securing consent from a court? In accordance with *State v. Dubose*, 2005 WI 126, 285 Wis. 2d 143, 699 N.W.2d 582, Luedtke submits that absent court approval, the State has a *post-charging* responsibility to refrain from destroying a driver's blood sample until after the driver receives actual notice of the restricted substance charge.

Traffic accidents occur every day. In most instances, accidents are the result of some momentary lapse in the driver's concentration. This case illustrates the dilemma such a driver may encounter when, months later, criminal charges are filed after a screening test detects a restricted substance in the driver's blood sample. How can a driver who insists he never ingested a detected substance demonstrate his innocence? If the blood sample has been destroyed, retesting is impossible. At the time of the accident, a driver who is unaware of having ingested a restricted substance will have no reason to request an independent blood test to establish the nonexistence of an unexpected substance. Furthermore, since months may pass before drug screening is even conducted, it will be impossible for the driver to meaningfully reconstruct his activities in the hours or days preceding the accident to try to determine when he could have unwittingly come into contact with the detected substance.

I. The Offense of Operating with a Detectable Amount of a Restricted Controlled Substance in the Blood Must Be Construed to Include a *Scienter* Element Requiring that the Driver Knowingly Ingested a Restricted Substance.

#### A. Introduction.

Luedtke was convicted of driving with a detectable amount of a restricted substance in his blood. Belated testing of the blood sample reportedly seized from Luedtke indicated the presence of cocaine at less than 20 nanograms per milliliter, and the cocaine metabolite benzoylecgonine at 330 nanograms per milliliter. (102:132, 133, 134, 136). Luedtke, however, insisted "I don't ever do cocaine." (102:179-180, 183-184).

The jury was instructed that the restricted substance charge has two elements. First, "the defendant operated a motor vehicle on a highway." Second, "the defendant had a detectable amount of restricted controlled substance in his or her blood at the time the defendant operated a motor vehicle." The jury was further instructed that "Cocaine and benzoylecgonine are restricted controlled substances." (102:194-195).

The jury was never told that before it could return a guilty verdict it must find Luedtke *knowingly* ingested the restricted substance. Consequently, the jury was authorized to return a finding of guilt even if, as Luedtke claimed, he did not knowingly ingest cocaine. The prosecutor told jurors: "Cocaine is in his system and as a result of that alone you can find him guilty of operating with a restricted controlled substance." (102:210). The prosecutor further argued Luedtke was guilty no matter how little cocaine was detected in his

system, so that "[i]t doesn't matter how many zeros are in front of that result" he is guilty "despite the level" "if it's in there." (102:211).

Luedtke submits Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am), must be construed to include a scienter element requiring that the driver knowingly ingested a restricted controlled substance. To authorize the prosecution of an otherwise unimpaired motorist who unknowingly ingests a restricted substance is problematic on several levels. First, it conflicts with the principle that *scienter* is the rule rather than the exception in our criminal jurisprudence and will be presumed even in the absence of an express statutory reference. Second, it conflicts with the recognition in *State v. Griffin*, 220 Wis. 2d 371, 584 N.W.2d 127 (Ct. App. 1998), that a blood or urine test, standing alone, is insufficient to prove possession of cocaine because cocaine can be unwittingly ingested. Third, imposing strict liability in this fashion conflicts with the due process principle that it is unfair to impose punishment based on facts the defendant is unable to know.

Luedtke's *scienter* claim is distinguishable from the arguments raised in *State v. Smet*, 2005 WI App 263, 288 Wis. 2d 525, 709 N.W.2d 474, and *State v. Gardner*, 2006 WI App 92, 292 Wis. 2d 682, 715 N.W.2d 720, which focused on the absence of an impairment requirement. Luedtke is not seeking to overturn *Smet* and *Gardner*. Luedtke merely contends that § 346.63(1)(am), must be construed to include a threshold *scienter* element. In thid regard, it is worth clarifying what is **not** in dispute in this appeal.

First, Luedtke agrees that if a driver is actually impaired, the State is not required to prove either that the driver knew he was impaired or understood why he was

impaired. Individuals who elect to drive have a responsibility not to drive impaired.

Second, consistent with *Gardner* and *Smet*, if a driver *knowingly* ingests a restricted substance, the State is not required to prove the driver was aware of the continued presence or level of the substance in his system. The legislature has determined that individuals should not drive after ingesting a restricted substance. Unlike the claims in *Smet* and *Gardner*, however, a driver should not be punished based on facts he does not, and could not, know.

B. General rules applicable to the construction and application of Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am).

The applicable version of Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am), along with the companion operating under the influence prohibitions, read:

**346.63 Operating under influence of intoxicant or other drug.** (1) No person may drive or operate a motor vehicle while:

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