RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

12-04-2014

IN SUPREME COURT CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

No. 2013AP1737-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL R. LUEDTKE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT II, AFFIRMING THE JUDGMENT AND ORDER ENTERED BY THE WINNEBAGO CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE KAREN L. SEIFERT PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

WINN S. COLLINS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1037828

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Bartholomewsuch supported a drastic result. 285 Wis. 2d 143, ¶ 33 n.9. Specifically, this Court noted that the second and fourth factors supported overruling precedent because "new information" demonstrated that the precedent was "unsound." Id. ¶¶ 29-31 (citation omitted). Luedtke makes no such showing with regard to the routine destruction of a driver's blood sample. And he does not refute that the preservation of a sample is "much more likely to provide inculpatory than exculpatory evidence . . . [i]n all but a tiny fraction of cases" Trombetta, 467 U.S. at 489. Duboseoverruled Wolverton after finding that misidentification was "the single greatest source of wrongful convictions." Dubose, 285 Wis. 2d 143, ¶ 30. This declaration sharply with Luedtke's desire to overrule contrasts precedent when "the chances are extremely low that preserved samples would have been exculpatory." Trombetta, 467 U.S. at 489. Dubose has been and should continue to be limited to a single due process problem identified with showups.

Under the second level of stare decisis analysis, this Court should find that Luedtke has not met his burden to overrule precedent. Luedtke does not allege that any of the Bartholomew factors justify overruling precedent. (Def.-Appellant Br. at 29-39). This Court should hold that there is not a prudential and pragmatic justification that compels this Court to overrule Ehlen, Disch, Walstad, Pankow, Greenwold II, and their progeny.

3. This Court should not interpret a greater due process protection under the Wisconsin Constitution.

Interpreting greater due process protection for evidence preservation and destruction under the Wisconsin Constitution would uproot thirty years of precedent, seriously threatening this Court's fidelity to stare decisis.

There are three settled branches of Wisconsin precedent regarding the routine destruction of a driver's blood sample. First, in 1984, this Court decided in *Disch* and *Ehlen* that production of the original blood sample as a due process requirement is an illusory myth. *Disch*, 119 Wis. 2d at 480 ("illusory"); *Ehlen*, 119 Wis. 2d at 453 ("myth"); *accord*

Walstad, 119 Wis. 2d 483. Second, Pankow produced a workable due process test that requires, among other things, a showing of bad faith. 144 Wis. 2d at 42-43; accord Greenwold I, 181 Wis. 2d at 885-86 (requiring bad faith when the exculpatory value of the blood sample was not apparent prior to its destruction). Third, Greenwold II has rejected affording greater due process under the Wisconsin Constitution than the United States Constitution in the evidence preservation and destruction context. 189 Wis. 2d at 71.

To grant greater due process to Luedtke under the Wisconsin Constitution, this Court must overrule all three branches of precedent. First, this Court would have to overrule *Greenwold II*, which found no greater due process protection in the context of evidence preservation and destruction. *Id.* Next, this Court would have to reach a result contrary to its holdings in its triad of 1984 opinions finding no due process requirement for the preservation of the original sample. *Disch*, 119 Wis. 2d at 480; *Ehlen*, 119 Wis. 2d at 453; *see also Walstad*, 119 Wis. 2d 483. The

effect of all this would be to eliminate and effectively overrule a constitutional test that is both easy to apply and protective of a defendant's due process rights. *See Pankow*, 144 Wis. 2d at 42-43; *accord Greenwold I*, 181 Wis. 2d at 885-86.

This Court should not join Luedtke in his pursuit to uproot this case law. Luedtke attempts to distinguish precedent by seeking only a special due process post-charge right for an OCS offense that exists for neither OWI and PAC offenses nor pre-charge evidence destruction (Def.-Appellant Br. 29-39). But Luedtke's attempt to distinguish case law—as an end run around stare decisis—undermines this Court's fidelity to precedent in the same manner as directly overruling the cases. See Estate of Genrich v. OHIC Ins. Co., 2009 WI 67, ¶ 85, 318 Wis. 2d 553, 769 N.W.2d 481 (Bradley, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). So this Court should decline Luedtke's end run invitation.

This Court should not overrule these precedents—it should not interpret the Wisconsin Constitution as providing

greater due process protection than the United States Constitution in the context of evidence preservation and destruction. Ehlen, Disch,Walstad, Pankow, and Greenwold II were correctly decided and produced a settled body of law. There is no prudent and pragmatic justification to overrule this precedent and their progeny. Dubose does not provide such a justification; to the contrary, it produced a limited holding to address a specific and severe problem with showup identifications. This Court should find that the Wisconsin Constitution does not provide greater due process protection than its federal counterpart in the context of evidence preservation and destruction.

B. Luedtke was not denied due process when his blood sample was destroyed.

The routine destruction of blood samples presents a procedural due process concern. *See Dubose*, 285 Wis. 2d 143, ¶ 81 (Roggensack, J., dissenting). In *Ehlen* and *Disch*, the court framed the due process issue as one of fairness. 119 Wis. 2d at 477; 119 Wis. 2d at 456-57. The Court in *Trombetta* included in the fairness guarantee

"a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense."

467 U.S. at 485; accord State ex rel. Schaeve v.

Van Lare, 125 Wis. 2d 40, 44 n.3, 370 N.W.2d 271

(Ct. App. 1985). And Luedtke frames his argument consistent with these authorities as a "fair trial" issue (Def.-Appellant Br. 41 (citations omitted)).8 So the issue before this Court is whether the circuit court provided Luedtke with the fair process due. See State v. Hazen, 198 Wis. 2d 554, 559, 543 N.W.2d 503 (Ct. App. 1995);

⁸Luedtke does not allege that the routine destruction of blood samples presents a substantive due process issue (Def.-Appellant Br. 5-21). Having waived such an argument, Luedtke cannot raise this issue for the first time in a reply brief or at oral argument. See State v. Green, 2002 WI 68, ¶ 20 n.2, 253 Wis. 2d 356, 646 N.W.2d 298 (an argument raised for the first time in a reply brief is deemed waived). City of Milwaukee v. Christopher, 45 Wis. 2d 188, 190, 172 N.W.2d 695 (1969) (an argument raised for the first time at oral argument is deemed waived). Even if Luedtke had raised a substantive due process concern, the result would not change because "[w]hether framed as a 'substantive liberty interest . . . protected through a procedural due process right' to have evidence made available for testing, or as a substantive due process right to be free of arbitrary government action, . . . the result is the same" District Attorney's Office for Third Judicial Dist. Osborne, 557 U.S. 52, 93 (2009) (citation and footnote omitted); see also id. at n.6 (describing the difference between substantive and procedural due process in this context as "faint").

see also Disch, 119 Wis. 2d at 469 ("A defendant is entitled to a fair trial but not a perfect one.").

Due process analysis involves a balance between the individual rights of defendant the and the demands of society for iustice. State Post. v. 197 Wis. 2d 279, 317, 541 N.W.2d 115 (1995); accord State v. Forbush, 2011 WI 25, ¶ 149, 332 Wis. 2d 620, 796 N.W.2d 741 (Crooks, J., dissenting). In the context of evidence preservation and destruction "the defendant's interests in having access to significant evidence [must be] weighed against the unreasonableness of requiring the police to retain and preserve all evidence that might have significance." Greenwold II, 189 Wis. 2d at 68. Consequently, due process requires the preservation of neither all potentially exculpable evidence, nor all essential evidence determinative to the outcome of a case. See Illinois v. Fisher, 540 U.S. 544, 548 (2004).

When potentially exculpable evidence is destroyed, "courts face the treacherous task of divining the import of materials whose contents are unknown and, very often,

disputed." Trombetta, 467 U.S. at 486. At one extreme, courts could bar further prosecution or exclude the prosecution's most probative evidence. Id. at 487. At the extreme, courts could disregard a defendant's other individual interest in favor of the demands of society for public safety. Neither extreme strikes the balance due process requires. See Youngblood, 488 U.S. at 58; Ehlen, 119 Wis. 2d at 456 ("the retention of a breath ampoule or of a blood sample was of miniscule importance in the assurance of a fair trial when weighed in the balance against the traditional rights of defendants in criminal or quasi-criminal proceedings"); State v. Rogers, 70 Wis. 2d 160, 166, 233 N.W.2d 480 (1975) (not every delay detrimental to a defendant's case should abort a prosecution). Courts have found balance in permitting prosecutions to continue with missing evidence when defendants have an adequate means to present their defense. See, e.g., Trombetta, 467 U.S. at 490; Ehlen, 119 Wis. 2d at 476-78; Disch, 119 Wis. 2d at 456-57.

This Court recognized that "a whole panoply of due process safeguards . . . protect[s] a defendant's right to a fair trial, whether or not at a particular time a sample of blood is retestable." *Disch*, 119 Wis. 2d at 470. This panoply includes "[t]he right to cross-examine witnesses and experts for the state, the right to impeach by use of the separate blood or breath analysis results, and the right to attack the credibility of the state's witnesses." *Ehlen*, 119 Wis. 2d at 452. The statutory and constitutional rights to discovery secure these other rights. *Walstad*, 119 Wis. 2d at 524; *Ehlen*, 119 Wis. 2d at 452 (identifying the results of the blood test as discoverable—not the blood sample itself).

Luedtke had a battalion of due process safeguards. The circuit court found that, at the time of the blood draw on April 27, 2009, "Luedtke was provided with documentation that he could have a second test done or he could have someone else test the blood, but he did not choose to do that" (R. 105:18). The court also found that Luedtke had several layers of protection to ensure a fair trial. First, he had the right to cross-examine witnesses (R. 94:18). Second, he had

the right to call his own expert witness (R. 94:18). Third, the court gave Luedtke the opportunity to tell the jury that the sample was destroyed and he did not have the opportunity to retest it (R. 94:18-19). And the court found that Luedtke preserved nearly all of the steps available for retesting the blood:

A sample was analyzed and an expert can look over all of the methodology used and can actually reperform the evaluation that was done from the sample that was taken and you would have the opportunity to get the raw data that the crime lab used to make their opinion.

And an expert can look at all the methodology the same way that you would in preparing for a trial anyway by looking at what the crime lab did, by questioning all the various steps taken. you still have the opportunity to do that, you just don't have the opportunity to actually perform a chemical test on it. But you can—you can do all the other steps and you can do all the things that you would at trial. So those things— You could have an expert go over everything the same way you would if the sample still existed other than that one step.

(R. 94:17-18). Luedtke received discovery (R. 91:2). And the court gave him time to pursue additional documents from

⁹At the motion hearing, the circuit court stated that the "crime lab" tested Luedtke's blood (R. 94:17-18). But the State Laboratory of Hygiene actually was the laboratory that tested and ultimately destroyed the sample (R. 102:127-52).

the laboratory through a public records request (R. 101:2). The court also granted Luedtke multiple adjournments as he prepared his defense (R. 94:20-21; R. 101:2).

Luedtke had within his arsenal the option to exclude the evidence about the blood result under the rules of evidence. See Wis. Stat. § 904.03. When the Hibl court declined to expand Dubose, it highlighted the circuit courts' limited gate-keeping function to exclude relevant evidence when its probative value is substantially outweighed by danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury. 290 Wis. 2d 595, ¶ 31 (citing Wis. Stat. § 904.03). In most cases, a circuit court should admit the evidence, allowing the jury to assess its weight and credibility. Id.; Disch, 119 Wis. 2d at 476. But a defendant may prevail when he or she makes a sufficient showing. See Wis. Stat. § 904.03.

The circuit court concluded that Luedtke sought "too extreme" a remedy (R. 94:19). The court held that "the remedy for the lack of a sample to retest is that you tell the

jury we didn't get a chance, they destroyed the sample" (R. 94:19).

Having struck a proper balance, the circuit court did not resolve whether Luedtke's blood sample could have been retested had it not been destroyed. The blood draw occurred on April 27, 2009 (R. 102:7,90). The State did not learn of Luedtke's desire to retest the blood until over a year later. ¹⁰ The circuit court did not need to resolve the retestability of

¹⁰Luedtke testified at the jury trial that he saw the laboratory report for the first time at the initial appearance in May 24, 2010 (R. 102:179). He said that he "immediately asked the attorney to have the blood tested again . . . because there is cocaine" (R. 102:179). Luedtke said that three months later his attorney told him that "the blood was thrown out on February 4" (R. 102:180). But it was Luedtke's second attorney, appointed in November 12, 2010, who said he received an e-mail from the laboratory confirming that the blood sample "was discarded on February 4, 2010" (R. 94:3). On December 28, 2010, Luedtke's second attorney filed the motion to suppress based upon destruction of the evidence (R. 23). So the State first learned of Luedtke's desire to retest the blood sometime between May 24 and December 28, 2010.

the blood because "[d]ue process does not rest on so narrow a basis." *Disch*, 119 Wis. 2d at 463.11

This Court should find that Luedtke was not denied due process when his blood sample was destroyed after he was charged. This Court explained 30 years ago that "[d]ue process—the sine qua non of a fair trial—may be assured and, by our constitution and statutes, is assured quite apart from any questions about the materiality of the blood test sample or of a breathalyzer ampoule." Ehlen, 119 Wis. 2d at 456. And "[i]t is error to so minimize these great tools of the common law as to conclude due process will be violated if a blood test is not suppressed merely because a portion of the sample—even if it were retestable—could not be produced for further tests." *Id.* at 457.

¹¹See Clarke's Analytical Forensic Toxicology 352 (Adam Negrusz & Gail Cooper eds., 2d ed. 2013) (describing cocaine as "certainly notorious in terms of stability" with spontaneous conversion of cocaine to benzoylecgonine and further transformation of benzoylecgonine to other metabolites).

III. Luedtke is not entitled to a new trial.

This Court should find that Luedtke's is not entitled to a new trial. His trial counsel was not deficient and, thus, was not ineffective. And the real controversy was fully tried.

Luedtke's ineffective assistance of counsel claim fails because he raises issues in this appeal that are not settle areas of law. State v. McMahon, 186 Wis. 2d 68, 85, 519 N.W.2d 621 (Ct. App. 1994). Luedtke argues that his trial counsel was ineffective for not raising these issues in the circuit court (Def.-Appellant Br. 24-26,39-40). But any such failure by trial counsel does not constitute deficient performance because the issues are novel. State v. Maloney, 2005 WI 74, ¶¶ 28-30, 281 Wis. 2d 595, 698 N.W.2d 583. So Luedtke fails to establish ineffective assistance of counsel because counsel was not deficient. State v. Pitsch, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 369 N.W.2d 711 (1985) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)).

Luedtke is not entitled to a new trial because the statute—as a strict liability offense—does not require proof of knowledge or intent. Had the court provided such an

instruction, it would have been in error. Even assuming that a scienter element was required, the absence of instructing the jury on the element in this case was harmless. See State v. Harvey, 2002 WI 93, ¶¶ 46-47, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189. The circuit court found that Luedtke knowing ingested cocaine based upon his consciousness of guilt and the paraphernalia (R. 105:18). So the evidence shows beyond a reasonable doubt that Luedtke's cocaine use was knowing and intentional.

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